08/25/2022

Bowen Greenwood

CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT

STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 21-0582

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA-21-0582

KIM NORQUAY, JR., aka, Buggz Ironman-Whitecow

Petitioner and Appellant,

٧.

STATE OF MONTANA,

Respondent and Appellee.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

ON APPEAL FROM THE MONTANA TWELFTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT,
HILL COUNTY,
HONORABLE YVONNE LAIRD, PRESIDING

APPEARANCES:

PHYLLIS M. QUATMAN Quatman & Quatman, PC PO Box 153 Whitefish, MT 59937 quatmanp@gmail.com 406-250-8915 Attorney for Appellant AUSTEN KNUDSEN Montana Attorney General 215 N. Sanders Helena, MT 59620-0145

LACEY LINCOLN
Hill County Attorney
Attorneys for Appellee

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. The aggregate judicial mistakes of law and erroneous findings of fact denied Norquay his right to prove no murder occurred in this case and he is innocent.
- 2. The aggregate *Brady* violations, police tampering with and fabrication of evidence, and instances of prosecutorial misconduct, prove that no competent evidence existed in 2006, or now, to convict Norquay of murder.
- 3. The aggregate instances of ineffective assistance of counsel—e.g., failing to challenge both cause of death and the State's repeated reference to Norquay raping the victim, without any evidence or charge of rape—prejudiced the jury who otherwise were hung in their verdict.
- 4. The aggregate issues set forth herein and in Norquay's stricken Amended Petition for Postconviction Relief ("APPCR") are so prejudicial they constitute cumulative error requiring reversal of his conviction.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A jury convicted Kim Norquay, Jr., aka Buggz Ironman-Whitecow, ("Norquay") of accountability to felony murder (predicate=aggravated assault) and Tampering with Evidence in November 2008, for which he was sentenced to 65 years MSP in April 2009. This Court denied his direct appeal on March 1, 2011. Norquay, *pro se*, timely filed his original petition

for postconviction relief on May 31, 2012 (Docs.1,2,3). Present counsel was appointed in 2013.

In November 2016, Norquay filed his second discovery motion and petition for DNA testing (Docs.48,49,50) which was fully briefed on January 23, 2017. (Docs.57,58) Judge McKeon retired in November 2016 and newly appointed District Court Judge Yvonne Laird ("J.Laird") assumed jurisdiction in December 2016.

However, J.Laird failed to rule on the above pleadings for 366 days, until January 24, 2018, when she denied them and short-set Norquay's deadline to file his APPCR, giving him only 21 days to complete it. (Doc.71).

Norquay brought his first Writ of Supervisory Control which this Court denied on February 6, 2018 (Doc.79), advising counsel to raise the issue on appeal.

On April 24, 2018, Norquay completed and filed his APPCR pursuant to §46-21-104, MCA (Docs.90,91), totaling 334 pages, and two volumes of exhibits. *Thirty minutes* after that electronic filing, J.Laird, at the State's request, limited the petition to 60 pages citing Hill County Local Rule (6)(a)(1). (Doc.92). The State then moved to strike Norquay's APPCR, exhibits, and juror affidavits relevant to the prosecutorial misconduct claim.

(Doc.94) On May 14, 2018, J.Laird granted the State's motion, ordering Norquay to file a revised 60 page APPCR within 30 days (Doc.96).

Norquay brought his second Writ of Supervisory Control on the single issue that §§46-21-101-105, MCA, should control over the local rule. This Court denied that Writ on May 30, 2018 (Doc.97), advising counsel to raise the issue on appeal.

Norquay filed his *Revised* APPCR, 56 pages, on June 13, 2018 (Doc.98). The State filed its response brief on December 8, 2018. (Doc.108). Based upon the *State's newly produced evidence* in that response, Norquay filed numerous motions, the State responded, but J.Laird didn't rule.

On October 18, 2019, J.Laird issued an Order to Set Status Hearing and Hearing on Pending Matters (Doc.130) which was held on December 9, 2019. On January 10, 2020, J.Laird denied Norquay's motions without providing her reasoning and set an evidentiary hearing for January 29, 30, 31, 2020. J.Laird held that hearing, finishing on February 6, 2020. (Doc.151)

After 18 months, Norquay brought his third Writ of Supervisory Control based on J.Laird's continued failure to rule. (Doc.179) This Court allowed J.Laird 30 days to respond to the writ, which she did, as did the State, and then denied the writ. (Doc.180)

J.Laird denied Norquay's Revised APPCR in a 25-page order

("Order") dated October 1, 2021. (Doc.184) J.Laird made no findings of fact but "set forth a summary of the pertinent testimony provided at the hearing on the Revised Amended Petition." (Order.P.3) Norquay now appeals that Order.¹

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The State convicted Norquay using the following evidence:

- Gruesome crime scene photos and video;
- A pathologist's testimony that (1) a string ("ligature") around decedent Lloyd Kvestad's neck *may have* strangled him; (2) injuries to Kvelstad's head and face during a group fight that would *not* have caused his death;
- Testimony the string *may have* come from Norquay's shirt but lab evidence that excluded his DNA;
- A shirt with a possible shoe print impression on the back;
- Kvelstad's blood on Norquay's Carhartt jacket and shoe;
- Joseph Red Elk's testimony he possibly saw Norquay shadow box,
 make a humping motion, or slap Kvelstad;
- Nicole Stamper's last-minute testimony Norquay called her drunk from jail, and sent her a letter that disappeared, in which he made

¹ J.Laird's delays in ruling totaled 3 years 10 months.

statements implicating him in the fight between Kvelstad and several Native Americans;

- Norquay wiped blood spots off his shoes later that morning;
- Without any evidence and no charge of sexual assault, the State repeatedly referenced their theory that Norquay might have sodomized Kvelstad as he lay unconscious and helpless.

The jury initially hung, but after an *Allen* instruction, convicted Norquay after deliberating more than 10 hours.

This appeal turns on two critical facts: **First**, Kvelstad was not murdered, strangled, or beaten to death, evidenced by the fact that *he moved* about two feet forward after EMTs left him untreated at 1:30 a.m., and he *showed signs of life* until 4:45-5:00 a.m., several hours after the State claimed he died. **Second**, the digital evidence in this case is so damaged and inaccurate, it was and is inadmissible. Likewise, the string (murder weapon) was significantly mismeasured and excluded Norquay's DNA. The pathologist, while testifying there were several possible causes of death, never concluded any particular one killed Kvelstad, and failed to consider hypothermia as a possibility. The collection data for the shirt and jacket is missing. Indeed, the entire investigation is so corrupted, it impeaches every officer who testified at Norquay's trial and hearing. Thus, no credible or

competent evidence exists to convict Norquay of any crime.

No court or jury has ever reviewed the facts, arguments, and evidence presented in Norquay's APPCR and exhibits, thus Norquay respectfully asks this Court to review it de novo.² Norquay also asks the Court to read his 34-page Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, **Doc.175**, for a concise summary of hearing facts.

ISSUE ONE: NO MURDER OCCURRED

A.

Kvelstad was not dead at 1:30 a.m. because he moved after EMTs left him untreated, and showed signs of life until 4:45 a.m.

- 1. At the 4-day hearing, Norquay called the first percipient witness at the scene, **Nathan Oats**, who testified on the afternoon of January 30, 2020:
 - Oats affirmed the contents of his prior eight statements to police, investigators, and jurors in which he stated essentially the same facts.
 - Oats walked into Missy Snow's Havre house at about 1:10 a.m. on November 25, 2006, entered the living room, and found Kvelstad face down on a loveseat immediately to Oats' left. Kvelstad's head lay on the left side of the loveseat [as one faces it] where the blood stain on the cushion shows in **Photo 42, Appendix Exhibit B**. Kvelstad's

² Pursuant to Rule 12(5), M.R.Civ.P., this Court has available to it the entire record.

³ aka, State's Hg.Ex.20, Petitioner's Hg.Ex.13A, APPCR-Petition.Group.Ex.7,

pants were down around his ankles and something was smeared down his legs. Oats moved toward Kvelstad and shook him by the shoulder. Oats said something like, "Get up, man, fix yourself, show some respect." After he shook Kvelstad's shoulder, Kvelstad rolled/slid off the loveseat and landed on the carpet in front of it. Kvelstad's arms were next to the sides of his body, face turned south, feet facing east. (January 30, 2022.p.m.p:86-97)

- Referring to **Photo 42**, J.Laird asked Oats to point to exactly **where Kvelstad's head landed** after he rolled off the couch. His answer was: "Right in front, like close to where the cushion is, right there in front." J.Laird asked, "Where were you standing?" and Oats responded, "I was standing right here next to the couch like this." (Id.p.105)
- J.Laird described for the record where Oats pointed on the photograph, showing the location of Kvelstad's head when he landed. "What Mr. Oats stated was that his head was directly below the cushion in this 13A [Photo 42] and that he was standing to the north of Mr. Kvelstad's body. That is exactly what he said and where he pointed." (Id.p.105-106)
- Oats authenticated the drawing he made of Kvelstad's body location

Exhibit C, attached,⁴ and affirmed it reflected his present memory of that location. (Id.p.99:4-8,107-108)

- Oats explained *Kvelstad's eyes were open when he found him on the loveseat*, and Kvelstad was looking toward the south door, like he was eyeballing the door and wanted to be out of there. (Id.p.97:20-25, 108:6-26)
- Oats, a Native American, explained why he assumed the "POW position" when police arrived, stating that, because of the color of his skin, it was easier to just give up when involved in a situation with police officers rather than have them see him as a threat. (Id.p.89, 108,109)
- Regarding his December 2018 statement to Ofc. Barkus, Oats repeatedly confirmed that his 2016 body location diagram was precise and that what he told the court at the hearing was the truth. When he told Barkus Kvelstad might have been a few inches forward, he meant south [toward the exit door]. (Id. 109-114) Oats understood Barkus' questions: "It was the same thing we went over so many times before.

 . . with everyone who interviewed me. My memory might be a little off on the size of the house, but my memory serves me correct."

⁴ aka, Petitioner's Hg.Ex.16, Petition Ex.5C

(Id.p.116-117:1-4)

2. Three Havre EMTs arrived about 1:24 a.m. None testified at the hearing, but in their prior 2016 interviews, they believed one checked Kvelstad for a pulse, although they were unsure if it was a radial or carotid artery pulse. EMT Jones stated it would be his practice to turn the body over to check for breath. However, it is uncontroverted that no one turned Kvelstad's body over, or moved it, until Officers Wilkinson and Matosich did so at approximately 4:22 a.m. as evidenced on the crime scene video. The EMTs agreed they made no effort to resuscitate Kvelstad, warm him, or take him to the hospital. (Petition.Ex.24,25,26;State's Response.Ex.3,4,5)

Petition.Ex.28 sets forth guidelines for EMTs to follow when treating patients, including clearing the airway, checking for breath, and checking for circulation. The EMTs agreed that, had they checked Kvelstad's carotid artery, they would have found the string around Kvelstad's neck and removed it, but *none of them saw the string*. (Id.)

However, had Kvelstad initially landed at 1:10 a.m. where he is depicted in **Photo 42**—taken of Kvelstad that morning at 3:53 a.m., below—they would have seen the string on Kvelstad's face and the fob in his mouth.

The fact that none of them saw the string and fob shows Kvelstad

was lying two feet back, next to the loveseat where Nathan Oats and Officer Wilkinson (below) said he landed at 1:30 a.m., proving Kvelstad was alive and moved forward after the EMTs left him untreated.

- 3. Former Captain Wilkinson testified on February 6, 2022 (morning) that when he first arrived at Missy Snow's house on November 25, 2006, just before 1:30 a.m., co-defendant James Main was sitting in a chair next to the kitchen table. This chair was the closest one to the living room entrance as depicted on State's Trial Exhibit 2, also used for the body location diagrams in Petition. Group. Ex. 5.
 - At Norquay's trial, defense attorney Vince Van der Hagen ("VDH") questioned whether Main could see Kvelstad on the living room floor, obviously relying on **Photo 42**, et seq., Captain Wilkinson testified Main was not close to Kvelstad, stating, "He [Kvelstad] was in the other room, out of sight. He would be out of his [Main's] line of sight." (Hg.tx.p.119-120)
 - VDH then tried to clarify that the distance between Main, (sitting in the chair), and Kvelstad, (lying where he was shown in **Photo 42**), was close. Wilkinson confirmed his trial testimony at the hearing, "No, Mr. Main would not be able to see where Mr. Kvelstad was lying." (Hg.tx.p.120).

- The fact that Main could not see Kvelstad at 1:30 a.m. proves

 Kvelstad was not at the location depicted in Photo 42, but rather

 exactly where Oats placed him, directly below and adjacent to the

 loveseat. All other witnesses who drew body location diagrams also

 placed Kvelstad there, including the EMTs in 2016, below.
- 4. Petition.Group.Ex.5 contains body location diagrams drawn on a copy of State's Trial Exhibit 2 by percipient witnesses in 2006 and 2016. They place Kvelstad where Oats testified he landed, regardless of whether "they are drawn years after the incident or not to scale." (Order.p.4)
- 5. Petition.Group.Ex.7 contains crime scene photos time-stamped beginning at 3:47 a.m. showing that by 3:53 a.m. Kvelstad had crawled forward about two feet and a foot to the left from his original landing spot.
- 6. Petition.Group.Ex.8 contains 2006 blood pooling diagrams drawn by Havre Officer Ciara Ost showing several blood pools and a trail of blood from Kvelstad's landing spot next to the loveseat up to his final resting location in **Photo 42**.

В.

Kvelstad was hypothermic and intoxicated at 1:30 a.m. and died from hypothermia and/or hypoxia hours later.

1. **Dr. Gordon Giesbrecht** (January 30, 2020, afternoon), testified as an expert on hypothermia and the effects of cold on the human body. As he did

in his August 11, 2017 Affidavit (Petition.Ex.3), Giesbrecht opined Kvelstad was alive but hypothermic at the time EMTs checked his pulse. Giesbrecht based his opinion on several factors:

- The circumference of the (wet) string around Kvelstad's neck was not 11 inches, as measured by pathologist Dr. Walter Kemp in November 2006. In fact, when remeasured (dry) in 2016, the string's circumference was 12.25 inches. (Id.13)(Petition.Ex.23)
- Kvelstad was cold when he was found. (Id.p.13)
 - It was 7 degrees Fahrenheit outside (Petition.Ex.29,30), the home was unheated except for some heat coming from the oven, the back door was open, and a window in the kitchen was broken. Several people said it was cold enough in the house to see their breath (*see also Coroner Szudera statement, below*). Kvelstad had no thermal protection below his waist, and his T-shirt and light sweater were soaking wet. When insulation is wet, there is heat loss. The length of Kvelstad's exposure to the cold was, at a minimum, three to four hours before he was found (Statements of percipient witness Thomas Anderson-Petition.Group.Ex.22), and up to six to seven hours before he was pronounced dead by Coroner Szudera at 6 a.m. (Id.p.13-19)
- Besides being cold, the reason Kvelstad was unconscious when the

EMTs found him could arise from alcohol (Kvelstad's blood alcohol level was 0.24), head trauma, and the string around his neck decreasing blood flow to his brain. (Id.p.20)

- For a cold patient, it is important to check the carotid artery pulse at the neck, rather than the radial pulse at the wrist, since blood circulates more slowly at the wrist given its distance from the heart. (Id.p.21)
- It can be very difficult to determine if a hypothermic person is breathing due to a slowed metabolism. High alcohol consumption further diminishes breathing and the ability to detect breath. It is not uncommon for people to come into an emergency room without pulse, heartbeat, or venitalation, yet revive after cardiopulmonary bypass. (Id.22-26)
- Giesbrecht considered the crime scene photos, the statements of percipient witness Oats, EMTs' reports, body location diagrams, and blood pooling diagrams. The EMTs found Kvelstad face down, arms to his sides, below the loveseat from which he rolled. Kvelstad's head, when lying on the loveseat, was just next to the armrest and when he rolled off, his head landed below that same location on the carpet. (Id.p.27-28)

- He noted no crime scene photos were taken of Kvelstad in the above position, nor are there any crime scene photos time-stamped before 3:47 a.m. (Petition.Group.Ex.16), (Id.p.28)
- The first photo showing Kvelstad is #40, time-stamped at 3:53 a.m.—2.5 hours after Nathan Oats found him at approximately 1:10 a.m. and shook him, causing him to slide off the loveseat and land as he described. (Id.)
- In these first photos, Kvelstad is about 1.5 or 2.5 feet forward from where others say his head landed when he rolled, and his arms are up, not against his sides. See **Photo 42**, **Exhibit B** (Id.p.27)
- had been moved. However, since EMTs and police on scene deny moving the body, and no one else was present, the only way for Kvelstad to arrive in that location was if he moved himself.

 Giesbrecht testified there is no other explanation. Dr. Kurtzman, the State's pathologist, agreed that dead people cannot move, below. (Id.p.27-28)
- There is apparent fresh blood coming from Kvelstad's wounds—as depicted in crime scene photos 46, 58, 59—3 hours or more after he supposedly died at 12:30 a.m. (Id.p.28)

- Giesbrecht reviewed the crime scene video and noted Kvelstad, when rolled over at 4:22 a.m., was limp rather than stiff, without rigor mortis. (Id.)
- Giesbrecht explained the term 'paradoxical undressing' as it relates to hypothermia victims as a viable theory to explain why Kvelstad's pants were pushed down toward his ankles. (Id.p.29-30)
- Coroner Szudera's discovery that Kvelstad's arms were 'warm to the touch' at 6:00 a.m. was particularly unusual if a person had been dead for several hours. Arms tend to grow colder faster since they are further away from the heart. Given Szudera's training and experience, Giesbrecht found it hard to imagine that arms described as warm [were] incorrectly noted by a professional. (Id.p.30-31)
- Because police testified they bagged Kvelstad's head at approximately
 4:45 a.m. to 5:00 a.m., Giesbrecht opined that if Kvelstad was hypothermic but breathing, bagging his head would have hastened his death. (Id.p.31-32)
- Giesbrecht disputed Kurtzman's opinion that the furrow underneath the string on Kvelstad's neck was deep. It measured 3/16ths inches wide, but the depth was subjective and depended on the body position. If the body was moved—as it was after the police rolled it over,

placed it in a body bag (face up), transported it to the morgue, and to the Crime Lab (face down)—then the depth of the furrow would change. Giesbrecht cited crime scene photo 58 and autopsy photo 008 as examples of this discrepancy. (Id.p.32-36)

- Referencing Kurtzman's conclusions, Giesbrecht noted the absence of Wischnewsky hemorrhages does not negate death by hypothermia.
 (Id.p.37)
- Giesbrecht agreed Kemp and Kurtzman were qualified to conclude Kvelstad was dead at 1:24 a.m. Yet based on all the evidence, there might be an alternate explanation *because the body moved*. Giesbrecht pointed to the body location diagrams, the crime scene **Photos 42**, 43, and the amount of blood on the floor two hours after EMTs declared Kvelstad was dead. (Id.p.55-56)
- Giesbrecht agreed with Kurtzman that gravity could be responsible for the large amount of blood under the victim's head as shown in the photos, but only if he had died at that location. If he died from strangulation on the couch, or earlier at 12:30 a.m as the police guessed, the blood would not still be able to pour out of Kvelstad's mouth or nose when he rolled to the floor, or after he moved two feet forward. Crime scene photos time-stamped at 3:53 a.m show

fresh blood at Kvelstad's final resting location. Giesbrecht found it hard to imagine that if Kvelstad died two to three hours earlier from no blood flow to his head, he could leave so much fresh blood at 3:53 a.m. (Id.p.57-64)

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