02/16/2023

Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 21-0582

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA No. DA 21-0582

KIM NORQUAY, JR.,

Petitioner and Appellant,

v.

STATE OF MONTANA,

Respondent and Appellee.

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Montana Twelfth Judicial District Court, Hill County, The Honorable Yvonne Laird, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

AUSTIN KNUDSEN Montana Attorney General MARDELL PLOYHAR Assistant Attorney General P.O. Box 201401 Helena, MT 59620-1401

Phone: 406-444-2026 Fax: 406-444-3549 mployhar@mt.gov

DANIEL GUZYNSKI Special Deputy Hill County Attorney P.O. Box 201401 Helena, MT 59620-1401

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

Similarly, the court found there was no evidence the eight-millimeter video was altered. (*Id.* at 14.) The court found that "it became clear during the hearing, based on Yonovitz's testimony and the testimony of Lacey, that the digital copy of the 8mm video made by Yonovitz for his utilization during his review was flawed. Yonovitz's testimony regarding the alteration of the 8mm video was not credible." (*Id.* at 14.) The court also found that Yonovitz's determination about what was stated on the video "was very clearly different" from the words contained on the video when it was played in court. (*Id.*)

Addressing Norquay's assertions about "Officer X," the court observed that Norquay "sets forth a speculative and convoluted series of purported events regarding the alleged actions of Officer X" and other law enforcement to alter the crime scene evidence, photographs, and video. (*Id.* at 15.) The court concluded that "there has been no testimony that supports the argument any of the officers involved altered the crime scene, crime scene photographs or crime scene video." (*Id.*)

The court concluded that Norquay failed to provide any new evidence to support his second claim of innocence in which Norquay relied on an affidavit from Anderson and argued that other evidence demonstrated his innocence. (*Id.* at 18.) The court characterized the claim as "a broad allegation unsupported by any facts or evidence." (*Id.*) The court noted that it reviewed Anderson's interviews,

in which he made many contradictory statements, and determined that he was "unreliable." (*Id.* at 16.)

The court concluded that Norquay's "allegations of prosecutorial misconduct are not new evidence nor are they supported by fact. They are representative of Petitioner's counsel's dissatisfaction with the overall investigations, prosecution, and trial of Petitioner and are generally speculative in nature, based on conclusory statements, and unsupported by facts." (*Id.* at 19-20.) Furthermore, the court noted that "allegations of misconduct arising during the criminal trial are record based and should have been raised on direct appeal." (*Id.* at 20.)

The court concluded that 9 of Norquay's 15 IAC claims were record based and procedurally barred. (*Id.* at 20.) That included Norquay's claims that counsel failed to develop a defense to accountability to felony murder and failed to exclude all mention of rape. (*Id.*) The court concluded that all of Norquay's other IAC claims were unsupported and lacked merit. (*Id.* at 21-23.)

The court concluded that Norquay's claims six through nine were record based and procedurally barred. (*Id.* at 23-25.) Lastly, the court concluded that Norquay failed to establish any error, so he did not establish cumulative error. (*Id.* at 25.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews a district court's denial of a petition for postconviction relief to determine whether the court's findings of fact are clearly erroneous and whether its conclusions of law are correct. *Marble v. State*, 2015 MT 242, ¶ 13, 380 Mont. 366, 355 P.3d 742.

Claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are questions of law and fact which this Court reviews de novo. *Whitlow v. State*, 2008 MT 140, ¶ 9, 343 Mont. 90, 183 P.3d 861.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Norquay's claim of innocence is based on his assertion that Kvelstad was not dead when EMT's determined he was dead. That assertion is demonstrably false. To support the claim of innocence, Norquay's counsel has concocted a wild conspiracy theory about law enforcement engaging in incredible efforts to cover up their realization that Kvelstad was not dead. This is not only refuted by the findings of multiple forensic pathologists, it is also unsupported by any evidence of a law enforcement cover up. The district court correctly concluded that Norquay's claim of innocence was based on mere speculation and properly denied the claim.

Norquay has also failed to establish that the digital evidence was altered or that the evidence is flawed. Norquay's arguments about foundation and the

admissibility of evidence ignore the fact that Norquay has been convicted, and the State does not have an obligation a decade after the trial to establish the foundation of the trial evidence, prove the exact minute when photographs were taken, or provide the cameras that were used. Further, Norquay has failed to establish that the State failed to disclose any material evidence except for a few photographs that may not have been disseminated. Because other photographs depicted the same information, he failed to establish that he was prejudiced if they were not disseminated.

Norquay's IAC claim asserting that his counsel acknowledged that he may have used a different strategy if he knew evidence had been tampered with is meritless because Norquay has not established that evidence was tampered with or that his counsel was deficient for failing to know that. And counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the suggestion that Norquay raped Kvelstad because that was a reasonable inference that was supported by the evidence.

Finally, Norquay has failed to establish cumulative error because no error occurred.

ARGUMENT³

I. Norquay was given an adequate opportunity to present his claims and evidence.

Norquay argues throughout his brief that he was unable to adequately present his claims and evidence because the court struck his Amended Petition. To the contrary, the court appropriately struck Norquay's Amended Petition because Norquay attached a 312-page memorandum, which drastically exceeded the 20-page limit for a brief in Montana Twelfth Judicial District Court Rule 6(a)(1). The court gave Norquay an opportunity to file a new petition and memorandum 60 pages long and also allowed him to incorporate facts from his prior petition. (PCR Doc. 92.) Norquay used only 55 of the 60 allotted pages and raised multiple claims that were procedurally barred. (PCR Doc. 98.) He has not demonstrated that he had any nonfrivolous claim that he was unable to raise.

Second, the limitation on the length of the petition did not limit Norquay's ability to present evidence. The court struck the two volumes of exhibits Norquay attached to his amended petition, but did not prohibit him from refiling any of those exhibits, except for the juror affidavits, with his Revised Amended Petition. (*See* PCR Docs. 91-1, 92.) Norquay did not refile the exhibits.

³Norquay's counsel includes 26 pages of argument in her Statement of Fact. Counsel for the State attempts to respond to the arguments raised in both the statement of fact and argument sections.

More importantly, evidence to support Norquay's claims needed to be presented at the evidentiary hearing. (*See* 12/9/19 Tr. at 2-3 (directing Norquay that he needed to provide evidence at the hearing and that his filings tended to "depart[] from anything that is factual."); 1/29/20AM Tr. at 10 (informing Norquay that the court "wanted to hear from your witnesses so that the Court could judge their credibility. Because frankly some of the claims that have been put forward, are questionable at best.")).

Norquay was given four days to present evidence to support his claims. He never indicated that he had additional witnesses he wanted to call or requested additional time. He has thus failed to demonstrate that he was prevented from presenting evidence to support his claim. Accordingly, the Amended Petition was properly struck from the record, and Norquay's arguments about it should be disregarded.

II. The district court correctly denied Norquay's actual innocence claims.

A. Norquay failed to meet his burden to demonstrate that he was actually innocent.

Norquay fails to cite any legal authority to support his claim of innocence, in violation of Mont. R. App. P. 12(1)(g). He appears to be raising a claim of innocence under Mont. Code Ann. § 46-21-102(2). A petitioner raising a

substantive claim of innocence under subsection (2) must demonstrate "the existence of newly discovered evidence that, if proved and viewed in light of the evidence as a whole would establish that the petitioner did not engage in the criminal conduct for which the petitioner was convicted." Mont. Code Ann. § 46-21-102(2); *see also Marble*, ¶ 36. As demonstrated below, Norquay has failed to meet his burden to demonstrate that he did not commit deliberate homicide.

B. Kvelstad was dead when EMTs declared he was dead.

Norquay's assertion that Kvelstad was not dead when EMTs declared him dead is demonstrably false. First, there is no evidence Kvelstad moved after falling off the couch. Norquay relies on imprecise descriptions and drawings, many of which were created a decade after the homicide, to argue that Kvelstad's body did not fall where it was located in the photograph. (See Appellant's App. A at 6, 13.) The district court found that these sketches were "not credible evidence Kvelstad was alive and able to move after rolling onto the floor," (Appellant's App. A at 6), which is not clearly erroneous. The only testimony at the evidentiary hearing about the location of Kvelstad's body was from Oats, and he testified that the location of Kvelstad's body in the photograph was consistent with where he remembered Kvelstad's body falling. (1/30/20PM Tr. at 124.) The district court correctly concluded that Norquay did not prove that Kvelstad moved on his own volition. (Appellant's App. A at 12-13.)

Second, Dr. Kurtzman and Dr. Kemp testified that Kvelstad could not have survived with the string around his neck. (1/31/20PM Tr. at 92, 95, 109.) Norquay misrepresents Dr. Kemp's testimony to suggest that he believed Kvelstad could have survived with the string around his neck. (Appellant's Br. at 9, 22-23, 49.)⁴ While Dr. Kemp was uncertain whether Kvelstad died of blunt force trauma or ligature strangulation, he conclusively testified that Kvelstad could not have survived with the ligature on his neck. (Trial Tr. at 1011-13.)⁵ The district court properly relied on the testimony from forensic pathologists, who were trained to determine the cause of death, instead of speculation from Giesbrecht that Kvelstad may have been hypothermic. (Appellant's App. A at 4, 12.) As the court noted, Giesbrecht was not an expert in strangulation and did not conclusively testify that Kvelstad suffered from hypothermia. (*Id.*)

Dr. Kurtzman's testimony also refutes Norquay's claim that Kvelstad would not have bled on the floor unless he was still alive when he fell there. Dr. Kurtzman

⁴Norquay cites to the transcript from Main's trial. (Appellant's Br. at 22-23.) These assertions of fact should be struck because Main's transcript is not part of the record in this case. *See* Mont. R. App. P. 8(1). If the testimony is considered, it does not support Norquay's assertions. Dr. Kemp testified in Main's trial that if Kvelstad "was alive at the time the ligature was placed that would have caused his death." (*State v. Main*, DA 09-0475, Tr. at 1007; *accord id.* at 1025-26.)

⁵Norquay's counsel's blatant misrepresentation of Dr. Kemp's testimony is representative of her disregard for accuracy throughout this proceeding.

called that "ludicrous" and pointed out that blood is a liquid that will flow through a wound without the heart pumping. (1/31/20PM Tr. at 117-18.)

C. Norquay's speculation about the digital evidence does not establish his innocence.

Without any evidence that Kvelstad was alive after he rolled off the couch, Norquay's claim that no murder occurred fails. Norquay speculated that law enforcement altered digital evidence to cover up their discovery that he was alive after they determined he was dead. Because he was dead, as demonstrated by Drs. Kemp and Kurtzman, the premise of that argument fails.

Further, Norquay has failed to provide any evidence demonstrating that evidence was altered. The only expert who testified about whether the photographs were altered was Callender, who did not find any evidence the photographs were altered. (Appellant's App. A at 8; 1/29/20AM Tr. at 129-52.) Norquay asserts that the district court "ignored the Breunig report." (Appellant's Br. at 27.) But, Norquay had an obligation to present testimony from Breunig if he wanted the court to consider Breunig's opinion. He did not do so. Instead, he presented testimony from Callender, who refuted Breunig's opinion. (1/29/20AM Tr. at 107-52.) The district court's finding that Norquay "failed to establish any of the photographs in the possession of the Havre Police Department were altered, modified, deleted, or intentionally withheld" (Appellant's App. A at 13), is not clearly erroneous. The court correctly observed that Norquay's allegations that

photographs were altered were merely speculation. (*Id.* at 14.) Speculation that photographs may have been altered is insufficient to establish that law enforcement officers engaged in a complex scheme to modify the crime scene evidence.

Similarly, the court found that Yonovitz's testimony about the video "was not credible," (*id.* at 14), which is not clearly erroneous. The court correctly observed that "it became clear during the hearing . . . that the digital copy of the 8mm video made by Yonovitz . . . was flawed." (*Id.*) Further, Lacey was more qualified and relied on technical expertise, while Yonovitz relied on speculation and a flawed copy of the video. (*Compare* 1/31/20 PM Tr. at 3-82 (Lacey), *with* 1/31/20AM Tr. at 3-98 (Yonovitz).) In sum, Norquay failed to establish that any digital evidence was altered or that it could establish his innocence.

None of Norquay's other assertions about digital evidence demonstrate his innocence. Norquay asserts that the photographs lack metadata, cameras and the camcorder are "missing," the video lacks a chain of custody and appears to be altered, and the photographs are unreliable because there is no evidence about the exact time they were taken. (Appellant's Br. at 26-29.) None of these assertions meet Norquay's burden to demonstrate that he is actually innocent. As demonstrated above, he failed to demonstrate the video was altered.

There is also no requirement that cameras capture metadata, that the State retain every camera used to capture a picture, or that the State be able to prove the

exact minute every photograph was taken. Norquay has been convicted and is no longer presumed innocent. *See Marble*, ¶ 29. He has a burden to demonstrate that he is actually innocent, and simply pointing to insignificant information that cannot be proven or no longer exists more than a decade after his trial does not establish his innocence.

Further, nothing about the order of items on the property log or the time when items were placed on the property log supports Norquay's speculation that officers "staged the kitchen scene to cover up their massive mistake in letting Kvelstad die." (Appellant's Br. at 33.)

Although the transcript states that the prosecutor conceded that "there is conclusive proof that there are five photographs [from Officer Virts] missing" (1/29/20AM Tr. at 35), that appears to be a transcription error or a misstatement from the prosecutor, likely omitting the word "not." The context in which that statement was made demonstrates that the State was asserting that there was not conclusive proof that the photographs were "missing." (*Id.*) Further, two witnesses testified that they could not determine the Virts photographs were missing. (1/29/20AM Tr. at 148-49; 1/30/20AM Tr. at 74.)

Finally, arguments about the foundation and inadmissibility of evidence needed to have been made at trial and raised on direct appeal, rather than in postconviction. Because they do not demonstrate actual innocence and could have

been raised on direct appeal, they are procedurally barred. *See* Mont. Code Ann. § 46-21-105(2).

D. Norquay's other assertions do not establish his innocence.

Norquay also asserts that the string was mismeasured and Kvelstad's shirt was compromised. (Appellant's Br. at 26.) As Dr. Kurtzman testified, the length of the string is irrelevant. (1/31/20PM Tr. at 96.) It was embedded in Kvelstad's neck, and all of the forensic pathologists who reviewed the case determined that it caused his death, unless he was already dead. (*Id.* at 92, 95; Doc. 108, Ex. 11 at 1446.) Further, it is not clear what Norquay is referring to with Kvelstad's shirt, and he has failed to demonstrate that it establishes his innocence.

Norquay also argues that problems with the digital evidence "calls into question" all of the other evidence obtained by law enforcement, including the DNA evidence. (Appellant's Br. at 48.) There is no legal authority to support this argument. Also, Norquay has failed to demonstrate that officers engaged in any improper conduct with the digital evidence, so there is no reason to question their investigation.

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